

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

MISSION STATEMENT

To set transportation related policy, identify existing and future local transportation needs in cooperation with TxDOT, and propose and recommend projects for all modes of transportation including mass transit and active transportation, with special attention to freight

**ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS, PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY**

Section 1.1 Definitions

- **Laredo Webb County Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (LWCAMPO)** – is the organization, formerly known as the Laredo Urban Transportation Study, designated by the Governor of the State of Texas, to serve as the Metropolitan Planning Organization for the Laredo Urbanized Area. It shall be hereinafter referred to as the “MPO.”
- **Metropolitan Planning Area-** The geographic area for which the MPO is responsible and in which the metropolitan transportation planning process must be carried out pursuant to Title 23 USC Section 134 and Title 49 USC Section 5303.
- **Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO)** - The forum for cooperative transportation decision-making, as designated by the Governor, and units of general-purpose local government representing 75 percent of the affected metropolitan population. The MPO is responsible for identifying local transportation needs, in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT), following a "Continuing, Comprehensive, and Cooperative" transportation planning process pursuant to 23 USC 134. The MPO is also responsible for proposing and recommending projects for all modes of urban transportation to those governmental units that are responsible for program development and project implementation.
- **Metropolitan Planning Organization Policy Committee (Policy Committee)** - The policy body, established pursuant to 23 USC 134, with the responsibility for establishing overall transportation for, and taking the required approval actions as the Metropolitan Planning Organization. The Policy Committee is comprised of those governmental agencies identified in the original designation agreement and those agencies or organizations subsequently added to the membership of the board. The Policy Committee shall have decision-making authority over issues such as the Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP), the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP).
- **Metropolitan Planning Organization Technical Review Committee (Technical Committee)** - The body of the MPO responsible for professional and technical review of work programs, policy recommendations and transportation planning activities. The Technical Committee shall review issues for accuracy and advise the Policy Committee on recommended actions. The Technical Committee is composed of representatives of the City

BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION

of Laredo, the County of Webb, the Texas Department of Transportation and private sector representatives.

- **Metropolitan Planning Organization Active Transportation Committee** – the body of the MPO responsible for improving and promoting active modes of mobility in the MPO study area by monitoring the implementation of the Laredo Webb County Active Transportation Plan, and providing recommendations on MPO active transportation related activities.
- **Fiscal Agent for the Metropolitan Planning Organization (Fiscal Agent)** – The governmental entity or agency designated by written agreement between the MPO Policy Committee and the governmental entity or agency providing fiscal administrative services and other services (which may include personnel and staff support) to the MPO Policy Committee and the Staff of the MPO.
- **Laredo Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)** - The MTP is an official, comprehensive, intermodal transportation plan developed and adopted for the Laredo Metropolitan Area through the transportation planning process. The MTP identifies the existing and future transportation needs and develops coordinated strategies to provide the necessary transportation facilities essential for the continued mobility and economic vitality of Laredo. These coordinated transportation strategies include roadway development and operations, truck and rail freight movement, transit operations, bikeways and pedestrian facilities. The development of the MTP is required under the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU) to assure the continuation of federal transportation funds. The plan shall address a continuous twenty-year planning horizon.
- **Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)** - A staged, multiyear, intermodal program, of transportation projects which is consistent with the metropolitan transportation plan and which is also financially constrained.
- **Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP)** - Shall mean the program of work that includes goals, objectives and/or tasks required by each of the several agencies involved in the metropolitan transportation planning process. The UPWP shall describe metropolitan transportation and transportation-related planning activities anticipated in the area during the next one-year period and reflect transportation planning work to be funded by federal, state or local transportation or transportation-related planning funds.

Section 1.2 Purpose

The MPO is the designated organization responsible for identifying local transportation needs in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). The MPO is also the entity responsible for proposing and recommending projects for all modes of urban transportation to those governmental units that are responsible for program development and project implementation.

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

Laredo Mass Transit Board One Laredo Mass Transit Board member as appointed by the Board's presiding officer/Mayor in his/her sole discretion.

County of Webb: County Judge
Two County Commissioners as appointed by the Webb County Judge in his/her sole discretion.

State of Texas: TxDOT District Engineer

Member at Large Member to be appointed by the Policy Committee

***** EX-OFFICIO *****

State of Texas: State Senator(s)
State Representative(s)

- (b) Members shall serve until a replacement is qualified pursuant to section 2.1 Subsection (f).
- (c) The Mayor of the City of Laredo shall appoint the two City Councilmembers that represent the City of Laredo.
- (d) Laredo Mass Transit Board's presiding officer/Mayor shall appoint one member to represent the Laredo Mass Transit Board.
- (e) The County Judge of the County of Webb shall appoint the two County Commissioners that represent the County of Webb.
- (f) Appointments to the Policy Committee shall be for a period of two years. A member may be reappointed with no limitation to number of terms, except that such term will not continue in the event an officer becomes ineligible for membership on the Policy Committee.

Section 2.2 Meetings, Quorum and Voting

- (a) The Policy Committee shall meet at least twice per year or as often as necessary to fulfill its purposes.
- (b) Quorum shall consist of four (4) members of the voting membership.
- (c) The use of proxies by the voting members of the Policy Committee is prohibited.
- (d) The official actions of the Policy Committee shall be by affirmative action of the majority of the voting membership present and voting at public meetings. All meetings are to be held as

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

open meetings as defined in Chapter 551, Texas Government Code (Texas Open Meetings Act), and the Transportation Planning Director of the MPO shall insure that the written notice of the meeting is posted at City of Laredo City Hall and Webb County Commissioners Court Building at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. Additionally, the notice may be posted at TxDOT Laredo District Office, and on the City of Laredo and Webb County website. The Transportation Planning Director shall ensure that at least two copies of the agenda and such supporting documentation as is available to the Policy Committee are made available for public inspection in the MPO offices at the same time they are made available to the Policy Committee members.

- (e) All official actions of the Policy Committee shall be duly recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- (f) The Chairperson and Vice Chairperson shall rotate every two years between the City of Laredo Mayor and Webb County Judge. The term of each office shall begin the 1st of January in odd number years. There is no limitation to the number of terms each member may serve as an officer.
- (g) The responsibilities of the Chairperson shall include, but are not limited to the following:
 - 1. Preside at all meetings of the Policy Committee.
 - 2. Authenticate, by signature, all resolutions adopted by the Policy Committee.
 - 3. Serve as chief policy advocate for the Policy Committee.
 - 4. Represent the committee at hearings, conferences, and other events as required or designate another member of the Committee or the Chairperson of the Technical Committee to represent the Chairperson.
- (h) During the absence of the Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson shall preside over meetings and shall exercise all the duties of the Chairperson.
- (i) In the absence of the Chairperson and Vice Chairperson from a Policy Committee meeting at which a quorum is present, the remaining members present shall elect a presiding officer who shall serve until the conclusion of that meeting or until the arrival of the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson.

Section 2.3 Administration

- (a) The MPO shall be led by a full-time MPO Transportation Planning Director. The responsibilities of the Director shall include, but are not limited to the following:
 - 1. All staff support for the Policy Committee, oversight and coordination of MPO administration and transportation planning activities, grant administration, maintaining records and providing notice of meetings as required by the Public Participation Process.

BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION

2. Shall act as Chairperson of the Technical Committee with responsibility for drafting findings and recommendations of the Technical Committee for review by the Policy Committee.
3. Shall be responsible for all plans and reports prepared by and for the review and consideration of the Policy Committee and for submitting the recommended policies, procedures and programs of the Technical Committee to the Policy Committee.
4. Supervise the MPO staff.
5. Serve as a liaison to the Texas Department of Transportation's planning program through the department's district office and the department's Transportation Planning and Programming Division's representative.
6. In cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation, collect, maintain, forecast, and report to the department appropriate socioeconomic, roadway, and travel data.
7. Prepare and submit all required plans, reports, programs, data, and certifications.
8. Develop and present to the MPO Policy Committee a Metropolitan Transportation Plan for the metropolitan planning area, a Transportation Improvement Program and a Unified Planning Work Program and such other planning documents and reports that may be required by state or federal laws or regulations.

(b) The Technical Committee shall include the following:

1. City Representatives:
Laredo City Planner
The General Manager of the City Transit System
Laredo Director of Traffic Safety
Laredo Airport Manager
Laredo City Engineer
Laredo Bridge Director
2. County and Regional Representatives:
Webb County Planning Director
South Texas Development Council Executive Director
The General Manager of the Rural Transit System
Webb County Engineer
Webb County-City of Laredo Regional Mobility Authority Representative

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

3. State Representatives:
TxDOT Planning Representative (Vice-Chairperson)
TxDOT Planning Representative
TxDOT Area Engineer
TxDOT TPP Field Representative
4. Federal representatives:
FHWA Planning Representative (Austin)
5. Private Sector Representatives:
A representative of the Kansas City Southern Railroad Company
A representative of the Union Pacific Railroad Company
A representative of the Laredo Transportation Association
A Transportation Provider Representative who shall also serve on the Laredo Transportation & Traffic Safety Advisory Committee
6. School system representatives
A representative of the Laredo Independent School District
A representative of the United Independent School District
A representative of Texas A&M International University
A representative of Laredo College

- (c) Each voting member of the Technical Committee may have a designated alternate member to serve on the committee in the member's absence. Appointed alternate members will have the voting rights and privileges of members when serving in the absence of the Technical Committee member.

The responsibilities of the Technical Committee include technical review of work programs, policy recommendations and transportation planning activities.

- (d) The Active Transportation Committee (ATC)

1. The responsibilities of the Active Transportation Committee shall include the following:
 - a. Monitor the implementation of the Laredo and Webb County Active Transportation Plan.
 - b. Recommend active transportation related planning studies to be conducted.
 - c. Provide recommendations to the MPO Policy Committee regarding active transportation planning activities.
 - d. Advise the MPO Policy Committee on active transportation related technical and policy issues.
 - e. Explore and recommend funding options and opportunities for active transportation related projects.

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

- f. Promote community outreach efforts such as bicycle and pedestrian safety campaigns and educational programs.

2. Membership

- a. The Active Transportation Committee shall be composed of a broad group of representatives from the regional community.
- b. Members shall be selected by MPO staff.
- c. The MPO Director shall select the Active Transportation Committee Chair.

Section 2.4 Ethic Policy for MPO Policy Members and Employees

- (a) A policy board member or employee of a metropolitan planning organization may not:

(1) accept or solicit any gift, favor, or service that might reasonably tend to influence the member or employee in the discharge of official duties or that the member or employee knows or should know is being offered with the intent to influence the member's or employee's official conduct; or,

(2) accept other employment or engage in a business or professional activity that the member or employee might reasonably expect would require or induce the member or employee to disclose confidential information acquired by reason of the official position; or,

(3) accept other employment or compensation that could reasonably be expected to impair the member's or employee's independence of judgment in the performance of the member's or employee's official duties; or,

(4) make personal investments that could reasonably be expected to create a substantial conflict between the member's or employee's private interest and the public interest; or,

(5) intentionally or knowingly solicit, accept, or agree to accept any benefit for having exercised the member's or employee's official powers or performed the member's or employee's official duties in favor of another.

**BYLAWS AND OPERATING PROCEDURES
LAREDO WEBB COUNTY AREA METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION**

**ARTICLE III
AMENDMENTS**

Section 3.1 Bylaw Revisions

The Bylaws may be revised or amended by approval of the Policy Committee at a meeting at which a quorum, as defined herein, is present.

PASSED AND APPROVED, on this the 21st day of June, 2023.

Honorable Dr. Victor D. Treviño
Mayor of Laredo and Chairperson of the
LWCAMPO Policy Committee

We certify that the LWCAMPO By-laws were revised at a public meeting of the Policy Committee of the Laredo Webb County Area Metropolitan Planning Organization.

Juan S. Mendive, AICP
MPO Director

Epigmenio “Epi” Gonzalez, P.E.
TxDOT District Engineer